#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# THURMAN KIRKWOOD AKA MICKEY

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-01349-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Thurman Kirkwood aka Mickey, Appellant
- 3. Honorable Laurence Y. Mellen, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Charles E. Webster, Circuit Court Judge

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE PROSECUTOR TO SUBMIT THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR FELONY CONVICTIONS IN SPITE OF THE APPELLANT'S OFFER OF A STIPULATION.

#### **ISSUE TWO:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CORRECTLY APPLY MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 609, INCLUDING CONDUCTING A BALANCING TEST ON THE RECORD AND/OR GIVING LIMITING INSTRUCTIONS WHEN THE STATE IMPROPERLY IMPEACHED THE APPELLANT REGARDING HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS DURING CROSS-EXAMINATION. FURTHERMORE, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE APPELLANT "OPENED THE

DOOR" TO SUCH CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ANSWERING A QUESTION POSED TO HIM BY THE STATE.

#### ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION ON GRAND LARCENY WHEN THERE WAS NO TESTIMONY OR EVIDENCE AS TO THE ACTUAL VALUE OF THE ITEM ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN STOLEN.

#### **ISSUE FOUR:**

WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTION FOR GRAND LARCENY WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE WHEN THE ONLY EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY THE STATE WAS A WITNESS'S TESTIMONY AS TO PURCHASE PRICE WHICH WAS IN NO WAY ANCHORED BY A DATE AND WHEN, AS SHOWN IN THE EXHIBITS, THE VEHICLE IN QUESTION WAS IN AN OBVIOUS SHAPE OF DISREPAIR.

#### **ISSUE FIVE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE JURY INSTRUCTION WHEN IT APPLIED THE IMPROPER METHOD OF ANALYSIS IN CONCLUDING THE DIRECT EVIDENCE OF THE OCCURRENCE OF A CRIME IS THE APPROPRIATE METHOD OF ANALYSIS, RATHER THAT DIRECT EVIDENCE SHOWING THE GUILT OF THE APPELLANT.

#### **ISSUE SIX:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTION WHEN THE STATE FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT THE BUILDING IN QUESTION WAS A DWELLING HOUSE.

### ISSUE SEVEN:

WHETHER ANY OF THE ABOVE ERRORS CONCERNING VIOLATION OF THE APPELLANT'S FAIR TRIAL RIGHTS MAY BE CONSIDERED HARMLESS.

#### ISSUE EIGHT:

WHETHER CUMULATIVE ERROR DEPRIVED THE APPELLANT OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

# STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Thurman Kirkwood, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

# STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction on one count of burglary of a dwelling, one count of grand larceny, one count of fleeing, and one count of being a felon in possession of a firearm against Thurman Kirkwood, following a trial on January 28-29, 2008, the honorable Charles E. Webster, Circuit Judge, presiding. Kirkwood was subsequently sentenced to forty (40) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections under Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-19-81.

# **FACTS**

On October 11, 2007, W.C. Smith's (Smith) trailer, located at 944 Oak Ridge Street in Friars Point, Mississippi, was broken into. (T. 16). Smith testified at trial that he owned another residence, and he mostly used the trailer in question as an office to do paperwork in. (T. 16). Smith admitted to sometimes sleeping there. (T. 17). Smith testified that early in the morning on October 11, Thurman Kirkwood, the Appellant, came to his house and asked about work. (T. 17). Smith testified that when Kirkwood arrived at his house that morning, Kirkwood was driving a van. (T. 18).

According to his testimony, Smith told the Appellant that he was going to Memphis. (T. 17).

Later in the day, Smith testified that the Appellant called, and Smith told him that he was on his way back from Memphis. (T. 17). Smith testified that after he returned from Memphis, he noticed that the back door to his trailer had been broken into, and that he was missing four guns, a briefcase, and two radios. (T. 19).<sup>1</sup>

Roy Banks (Banks), a resident of Clarksdale, Mississippi, testified that on October 11, he awoke to find that his 1991 GMC Safari Van was missing. (T. 29). Banks claimed that he purchased the vehicle for eight thousand (8000) dollars. (T. 29-30). Banks admitted to purchasing the vehicle "several years" prior to the time it was stolen. (T. 36). Banks, however, could not give a definite answer of when he purchased the van. (T. 37).

Officer Steven Poer (Officer Poer), a patrolman for the Clarksdale Police Department, testified to receiving a BOLO report regarding a blue and grey van. (T. 37-39). Office Poer, while on patrol, located the vehicle, and testified to locating the vehicle. (T. 40). When Officer Poer saw the vehicle, he commenced in a high-speed chase for a considerable amount of time. (T. 40-41). Once the vehicle was stopped, Officer Poer testified that the person in the vehicle ran into the woods. (T. 41). Poer testified that two other law enforcement agents arrested the Appellant shortly thereafter. (T. 41).

Officer Poer testified that inside the van, law enforcement agents located a briefcase, several guns, and radios. (T. 41-43). On cross-examination, Officer Poer revealed that there was another individual in the van when it was stopped. (T. 44-46). The individual was taken to the police station but released when officers realized she was unable to hear. (T. 47-48).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Throughout the course of his testimony, Smith uses the term "shop" and "trailer" almost interchangeably. It's unclear whether they are one in the same or two separate buildings on the same property.

Clarksdale Police Department Detective Vincent Ramirez (Detective Ramirez) arrived at the scene where the chase ended, photographed potential evidence, and investigated. (T. 49-52). During the course of his testimony, defense counsel offered to stipulate to the Appellant's status as a prior convicted felon. (T. 53). In spite of this stipulation, the State still sought to introduce evidence of the Appellant's prior conviction. (T. 53-54). Without any explanation as to the basis on its ruling, the trial court overuled the defense counsel's objection. (T. 55). After one additional witness, the State rested, and defense counsel made a motion for a directed verdict. (T. 70-71). The motion was denied by the trial court. (T. 71).

The Appellant took the stand in his own defense. In his testimony, the Appellant openly admitted being a drug addict. (T. 74). The Appellant testified that on the day in question, Earnest Woods (Woods), Larry Mixon (Mixon) and a female named Blair picked him up in the van in question, and the three went to W.C. Smith's trailer to purchase drugs. (T. 74). The Appellant testified that he purchased drugs from Smith. (T. 75).

The Appellant testified that the group left, did some drugs, and came back to the trailer, but Smith was not there. (T. 76). It was at that point, according to the Appellant's testimony, that the Appellant called Smith. (T. 76). Smith informed the Appellant that Smith would not be returning for awhile. (T. 76). At this point, Mixon and Woods went into the trailer, over the objection of the Appellant. (T. 76).

The Appellant left and began walking down the street. (T. 77). The rest of the group picked him up soon thereafter. (T. 77). The Appellant testified that inside the van was a blanket which was wrapping something. (T. 77). The group then went back to Clarksdale to Woods' house and used drugs, rode around in the van some more, and attempted to buy more drugs. (T. 78-9). Then, a police

vehicle pulled behind the fan. (T. 79). The Appellant further testified that he, Woods, and Blair were in the vehicle when it was ultimately stopped by the police. (T. 79).

During the cross-examination of the Appellant, the State, over the objection of defense counsel proceeded to go into the Appellant's criminal history, offense by offense. (T. 85-86). After the Appellant's testimony, the defense rested its case and the court adjourned for the evening.

The next morning, the defense again moved for a directed verdict which was denied. (T. 91-92). Then, it was brought to the court's attention that the prosecution failed to disclose that one of its witnesses, W.C. Smith, had recently pled guilty to three counts of the sale of a controlled substance. (T. 103-104). There was a motion for a mistrial made by defense counsel, and, eventually, the trial court decided to reopen the case for the limited purposes of the cross-examination of Smith. (T. 103-105). In a brief cross-examination, Smith admitted to pleading guilty to three sale counts. (T. 109-110).

After Smith's testimony, closing arguments were given, and the jury deliberated, ultimately convicting the Appellant of all four counts. The Appellant was sentenced to forty (40) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections under Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-19-81. (C.P. 9-11, R.E. 8-10). On February 4, 2008, the Appellant filed a Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict, or, in the alternative, a New Trial. (C.P. 24, R.E. 11-12). On August 6, 2008, feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 34, R.E. 13).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Currently, there is no order overruling defense counsel's motion. However, it is apparent from the record that such an order exists. The Appellant is filing this brief with anticipation of supplementing the record to contain said order when a certified copy of said order arrives.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it allowed the prosecutor to submit into evidence the Appellant's prior felony convictions. The Appellant offered to stipulate that he was in fact a prior-convicted felon. This admission into evidence of the Appellant's prior conviction was directly in conflict with *Old Chief* and was far more prejudicial than probative.

The trial court further erred in failing to correctly apply Mississippi Rule of Evidence 609. The prosecution, in cross-examination of the Appellant, questioned the Appellant, over the objection of trial counsel, concerning his prior felony convictions. These prior convictions were inadmissible under *Peterson* and were far more prejudicial than probative. Their admission into evidence warrants reversal.

Furthermore, the State presented no evidence of the <u>actual</u> value of the vehicle which was required for the Appellant's grand larceny conviction. The only evidence of any value was testimony as to the vehicle's purchase price at an undetermined date. Such evidence is not legally sufficient, as it would require speculation, conjecture, and guesswork to determine the actual value of the van at the time the Appellant was alleged to have stolen it.

Even if such evidence is sufficient in that the jury is allowed to draw an inference as to the value of the stolen goods, the inference in this case was not reasonable. The vehicle was in an obvious shape of cosmetic disrepair and nearly twenty (20) years old. Therefore the jury's inference is incorrect. Thus, the appellant's conviction on grand larceny against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The trial court further erred in denying the Appellant's circumstantial evidence jury instruction. The trail court's conclusion was based on an improper analysis, and the court did not

find that there was direct evidence showing the guilt of the Appellant. Such an improper legal analysis resulted in a jury that was misinformed as to the law and warrants reversal.

The state further failed to provide sufficient evidence that the building the Appellant was alleged to have burglarized was a dwelling. The alleged victim testified that the building that was broken into was used as a shop and that he slept at his "home," referring to another building. The Appellant respectfully submits that the building in question does not meet the necessary requirements to be considered a dwelling. Therefore, the Appellant's conviction of burglary of a dwelling should be reversed.

Lastly, none of the above error should be considered harmless, and, even if harmless, if taken in concert, the above errors surely constitute cumulative error and warrant reversal.

# **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE PROSECUTOR TO SUBMIT THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR FELONY CONVICTIONS NOT WITHSTANDING THE APPELLANT'S OFFER OF A STIPULATION.

# i. Standard of Review.

The standard of review governing the admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Brown v. State*, 969 So. 2d 855, 860 (Miss. 2007)(citing *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So. 2d 716, 721 (Miss. 2005)). Thus, "[a] trial judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the [Appellate] Court will not reverse this ruling." *Shaw v. State*, 915 So. 2d 442, 445 (Miss. 2005).

felonies, even though there was an offer to stipulate to his status as a convicted felon.

In *Old Chief v. United States*, the United States Supreme Court reversed and remanded a case for further proceedings when the district court allowed the State to introduce evidence of a defendant's prior conviction over the defendant's objection, where the defendant had offered to stipulate to his prior conviction. *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 172 (1997).

Recently, in interpreting Old Chief, the Mississippi Supreme Court held;

Where evidence of a prior conviction is a necessary element of the crime for which the defendant is on trial (i.e., possession of a firearm by a convicted felon), but evidence of the *specific nature of the crime* for which the defendant was previously convicted (i.e., armed robbery), is not an essential element of the crime for which the defendant is on trial. . . the trial court should accept a defendant's offer to stipulate and grant a limiting instruction.

Williams v. State, 2007-KA-00135 (Miss. 2008)(emphasis in original).

Recently, this Court concluded that a even limiting instruction could not cure the error in admitting a defendant's prior-felony in spite of an offer of stipulation. *Sawyer v. State*, 2007-KA-00136 § 25 (Miss 2008). This Court concluded:

The facts presented here are identical to the facts in *Old Chief*. We therefore conclude that the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *Old Chief* governs the outcome. Indeed, it would be difficult, if not impossible, for the jury to put aside evidence in Count II that Sawyer had twice before committed armed robbery when it considered Count I, regarding Sawyer's guilt of armed robbery one...

*Id.* ¶28.

The *Sawyer* Court concluded that any probative value of the defendant's prior convictions was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice under *Mississippi Rule of Evidence* 403. *Id*.

In the instant case, the Appellant's prior conviction(s) has little, if any, probative value,

which is clearly substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

#### iii. Conclusion.

The trial court abused its discretion when allowing the State to bring forth evidence of the Appellant's prior felony conviction even though the Appellant offered to stipulate that he had previously been convicted of a felony. Because the admission of evidence resulted in unfair prejudice, the Appellant's conviction should be reversed, and the matter remanded for new trial.

#### **ISSUE TWO:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CORRECTLY APPLY MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 609, INCLUDING CONDUCTING A BALANCING TEST ON THE RECORD AND/OR GIVING LIMITING INSTRUCTIONS WHEN THE STATE IMPROPERLY IMPEACHED THE APPELLANT REGARDING HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS DURING CROSS-EXAMINATION. FURTHERMORE, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE APPELLANT "OPENED THE DOOR" TO SUCH CROSS-EXAMINATION BY ANSWERING A QUESTION POSED TO HIM BY THE STATE.

# i. Standard of Review

The standard of review governing the admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Brown v. State*, 969 So. 2d 855, 860 (Miss. 2007)(citing *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So. 2d 716, 721 (Miss. 2005)). Thus, "[a] trial judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the [Appellate] Court will not reverse this ruling." *Shaw v. State*, 915 So. 2d 442, 445 (Miss. 2005).

ii. The trial court failed to correctly apply Mississippi Rule of Evidence 609, and failed to conduct a balancing test on the record.

During the course of cross-examination, the State sought to question the Appellant on his prior convictions;

- Q. You're an expert on police procedure now?
- A. No, sir. I know that much, sir.
- Q. Okay. Well, you are convicted felon; are you not?
- A. Yes, sir, I am.
- Q. In fact, you've committed burglary before; haven't you?
- A. I've committed a lot of crimes. I was a drug addict.
- Q. I'm sorry?
- A. I committed a great deal of crimes from doing drugs, sir.
- Q. What kind of crimes?
- A. All kinds.
- Q. Well, why don't you list a few for us?
- A. I committed a few burglaries.

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I object to this. I don't think that going into his prior crimes –

BY THE COURT; - I'm going to overrule. He opened it up.

- Q. [BY THE PROSECUTOR] And where was that?
- A. That was in Florida.
- Q. In Florida. Any other crimes in Florida aside from burglaries?
- A. No. sir.
- Q. No. You never committed an aggravated assault?
- A. Yes. I did. Yes.