#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THURMAN KIRKWOOD A/K/A MICKEY

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1349-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

###

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

Moreover, the objectionable testimony was a continuation of a conversation brought in by the defense in an attempt to show the prosecutrix's hostility toward her father and once having allowed a partial view of the circumstances, the prosecution was rightly allowed to include the remainder of the mother's conversation with the daughter, including accusations against the father of prior sexual assaults. The trial court told the appellant that he could not "shut the door". Where one side opens the

door, the other may come in and develop that point in greater detail. See **Jefferson v. State**, 386 So. 2d 200, 202 (Miss. 1980); Cf. **Simpson v. State**, 366 So. 2d 1085, 1086 (Miss. 1979).

In **DeLoach v. State**,722 So.2d 512, 520 (Miss. 1998), the Supreme Court found that admissions of DeLoach's prior convictions was harmless error. It was "harmless error" where there was overwhelming evidence of guilt.

¶ 34. This Court finds that the admission of DeLoach's previous conviction into evidence without a determination on the record under Rule 609(a)(1), that the probative value of the evidence outweighed its prejudicial effect, was erroneous. However, the contested testimony constitutes harmless error in the instant case because of the overwhelming evidence of guilt. This Court has held that the basic test for harmless error in the federal constitutional realm goes back to **Chapman v. California**, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967).

In **Brown v. State**, 890 So. 2d 901, 912 (Miss. 2004), the Court abandoned the **Smith v. State**, 656 So. 2d 95,100 (Miss. 1995) requirement that a trial court grant a limiting instruction. This would be after a M. R. E. 404(b) admission. The record reflects no request for a limiting instruction. R. 91-102.

Today we abandon Smith's requirement that a judge issue a sua sponte limiting instruction and return to the clear language of Rule 105. The rule clearly places the burden of requesting a Rule 404(b) limiting instruction upon counsel. The rule is controlling, and to the extent that Smith and its progeny contradict that plain language they are overruled.

In **Sawyer v. State**, 2008 WL 2582530 (Miss. App. 2008), relied upon by Kirkwood, there was a motion to severe in limine, an objection to admissions of crimes similar to the ones for which Sawyer was being tried as well as a request for a limiting instruction.

The appellee would submit that the record reflects, this issue was waived for failure to make a contemporaneous objection, and for not raising it with the trial court on the same grounds being raised on appeal. R. 53-55; 71; 85; 91; C.P. 24-25.

It is also lacking in merit because, as shown with cites to the record, Kirkwood's defense involved a confession of committing crimes caused by his being "a drug addict." R. 74. It also involved allegations of improper police investigative techniques. R. 85.

One can not confess to felony crimes openly without expecting the prosecution to follow up with questions about what kind of crimes. Particularly would this be true, where some of these admitted felonies allegedly occurred at the same time and place as the indicted felonies for which one is being tried.

The appellee would submit that these related issues were not only waived, but are also lacking in merit.

#### **PROPOSITION III & IV.**

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND THE RECORD REFLECTS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF KIRKWOOD'S CONVICTION FOR GRAND LARCENY.

Kirkwood argues that there was insufficient evidence in support of his grand larceny conviction. He believes there was insufficient evidence as to the actual value of the van that was stolen. He believes the lack of evidence as to its value at the time it was stolen was critical. This was sufficient for undermining any confidence that the value of the van was sufficient for meeting the \$500.00 statutory limit for grand larceny. Appellant's brief page 17-22.

The record reflects that this market value issue was never raised with the trial court or in Kirkwood's motion for a JNOV or New Trial. R. 70; 88; C.P. 24-25.

It was waived for failure to raise it with the trial court on the same grounds raised on appeal.

Haddox v. State, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994).

Officer Poer testified that he pursued the driver of the van. It was "a blue and grey" CMC

safari with "896 CMD" license plates. R. 39. The driver refused to yield. During a high speed chase, the van reached speeds "between eighty to one hundred miles an hour." R. 40

Officer Steven Poer testified to seeing Kirkwood driving the reported stolen van. He saw his face as he passed him on the highway. He had no doubt in his mind that Kirkwood was driving the missing van. R. 48.

Q. Is there any doubt in your mind as to who was driving this vehicle?

A. No, sir. 48.

Mr. Roy Banks testified that he paid "eight thousand dollars" for the van. R. 32. He was the owner of the stolen van. He testified that this purchase occurred "several years ago." R. 36. He also testified that at the time of trial he was still using the van. It had "a good motor and transmission," meaning a functional, usable van.

O. How much is that van worth?

A. Eight thousand dollars.

Q. How do you know that?

A. Because I bought it.

Q. That's how much you paid for it?

A. Yes, sir. R. 32-33.

Banks also testified that he was still driving the van at the time of trial.

Q. It still works?

A. Absolutely. Got a good motor and transmission. R. 33.

On cross examination, Burns admitted that he did not know exactly when he bought the van.

His wife assisted him with business matters. Burns had limited educational experiences, and was working at a Casino at the time.

- Q. You testified that you gave \$8,000.00 for the van. When did you buy it?
- A. Several years ago.
- Q. And at that time you gave \$8,000.00. Is that right?
- A. At that time. Because when I bought the van it was in good condition, I like the van.
- Q. -I'm not asking-that's what you gave several years ago. Is that right?
- A. When did I buy the van. I have no recollection or records or nothing, man. I do not know. My wife take care of all of my when and wheres and what time and what dates. Sir, I just do not write stuff down. I'm not that educated, you know. But I do have a lot of common sense. Thank you. R. 37.

In **Smith v. State** 881 So.2d 908, 910 -911 (¶10-¶11) (Miss. App. 2004), the court found there was sufficient evidence for inferring the approximate market value of stolen "auto rims." It was enough to meet the statutory minimum which at that time was \$250.00. In that case, as in this, there was testimony about the purchase price of the rims, and a lack of testimony about present market value.

- ¶10. We also find that Smith's argument-that the trial court erred in allowing Susan's husband, Sammy, to testify regarding the value of the rims because he did not have a receipt of purchase, nor was he qualified as an expert-is without merit. Although Smith contends that the trial court erred in allowing testimony of the value of the rims, our examination of the record reveals that the witness testified as to the purchase price, not the value of the rims, as Smith argues. Sammy testified that he paid between three and four thousand dollars for the rims, but he did not testify as to their current value. Therefore, we find no error in the admission of Sammy's testimony, for he was entitled to testify to things within his personal knowledge.
- [3] ¶ 11. We agree, however, with Smith that the prosecution failed to present any direct evidence as to the value of the rims. However, Sammy testified that he paid between three and four thousand dollars for the rims. Although this was not direct

testimony of the value of the rims, we find that it circumstantially provided a basis from which the jury could infer that the rims were worth at least \$250 because of the amount of the purchase price. While this is not the strongest evidence that could have been, and should have been presented, we cannot say that no fair-minded juror could find Smith guilty on this evidence or that allowing the verdict to stand will amount to an unconscionable injustice.

In **Cooper v. State** 639 So.2d 1320, 1324 (Miss.1994), the Supreme Court found there was sufficient evidence for meeting the \$100.00 minimum for grand larceny at that time. It was necessary to infer from the original cost to the cost at the time the flowers were stolen.

The record reflects that this issue was waived for failure to raise it with the trial court. In addition, it is lacking in merit.

#### **PROPOSITION V**

# THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Mr. Kirkwood believes that the trial court erred in denying him circumstantial evidence instructions. He believes that he was entitled to circumstantial evidence instructions.

Kirkwood believes there was no direct evidence that he was the person who broke into the trailer. He thinks there was only indirect evidence. These means to him no eye witnesses or confessions. He thinks this should have resulted in circumstantial evidence instructions for the burglary of Mr. W.C. Smith's trailer and for his possession of a firearm as a convicted felon. Appellant's brief page 22-24.

To the contrary, the record reflects that Officer Poer testified that he saw Kirkwood driving a blue and grey van reported as stolen. R. 39-41. Poer testified that he witnessed the driver of the van run a red light, and almost strike another vehicle. This was while Poer was actively pursuing the

van with his blue lights activated.

When the van stopped, Poer testified that Kirkwood "exited the van and ran into the wood line..." R. 41. Officer Poer and Ramirez testified to seeing what was reportedly four stolen rifles, some radios, and a briefcase inside the van. R. 43; 51-52.

Mr. W.C. Smith testified that Kirkwood was present at his trailer asking for money. This was the same day he returned to find his trailer had been burglarized. Kirkwood had borrowed money from him earlier in the day. Kirkwood also knew that Smith would be away from his trailer in Memphis for most of the day. R. 17. When Smith returned, his door lock was broken, and a briefcase, four rifles and some radios were missing. R. 19.

The colloquy over jury instructions was as follows:

...As concerns the felon in possession of a firearm, of course there's no issue as to his status as a convicted felon.

Shackelford: No.

Court: He admits that. The only question has to do with his possession of the firearms. The testimony from the officer is that he observed him driving the vehicle and these weapons were found inside the vehicle. Even though it may be disputed, aspects of it may be disputed, that does seem to the court to constitute direct proof therefore on that issue. With regard to the larceny, similarly, testimony of the officer does indicate that he was driving the vehicle. We've got testimony from an owner that the vehicle was in fact stolen. I find there is sufficient direct proof on each of the—each of those crimes. I'm going to deny the request for a circumstantial evidence instruction.

Shackelford: I object and I would like to call the possession of the firearm could only be constructive possession which has been equated to circumstantial. I just want to make that statement so there will be no—R. 95-96.

In Garrett v. State 921 So.2d 288, 292 (¶20-21¶)(Miss. 2006), the Supreme Court pointed out that where there was "any direct evidence presented at trial" a circumstantial evidence instruction

was not required. Direct evidence does not have to be an eye witness to the actual crime or a confession to the crime, but can be an admission of some involvement in the crime.

¶ 20. Regina's statements to the four people about her desire to kill her husband and her requests for others to kill him constitute an admission of deliberate design which is an element of the crime. This Court has held that a defendant's statement to the police that he thought his partner was going to carjack somebody was an admission against interest, and thus, the capital murder case was not purely circumstantial even though the statement did not constitute a confession. See Lynch, 877 So.2d at 1254. See also Swinney v. State, 829 So.2d 1225 (Miss.2002) (confession to a shooting could be direct evidence to an underlying felony for capital murder purposes where defendant admitted to pointing the gun at the victim and stated the gun accidently fired). Our precedent consistently adheres to the rule that any direct evidence presented at trial is sufficient to preclude a circumstantial evidence instruction.

¶ 21. Accordingly, the trial court judge was correct in striking the circumstantial evidence language in Jury Instruction D-5 and in refusing to submit the circumstantial evidence instruction D-6. Regina's second assignment of error is also without merit.

In **Hughes v State**, 983 So. 2d 270, 278 (Miss. 2008), the court stated that "an admission" constituted direct evidence of a felony. A circumstantial evidence instruction is not required.

An admission is a statement, direct or implied, of facts pertinent to the issue, and tending, in connection with other facts, to prove guilt. **Reed v State**, 229 Miss. 440, 446, 91 So. 2d 269, 272 (1956) (citing **Pringle v. State**, 108 Miss. 802, 67 So. 455 (1914).

The appellee would submit that the trial court correctly denied a request for circumstantial evidence instructions. R. 95-96. The record cited above indicates that there was direct evidence in the form of eye witness testimony from law enforcement, as well as admissions by Kirkwood. R. 48; 52-53. Kirkwood admitted to being a convicted felon at the scene of the burglary, as well as to being in the stolen van in which the stolen rifles, radios and a briefcase were located. R. 73-88. See **Ladner v. State**, 584 So. 2d 743, 750 (Miss. 1991)

This issue is lacking in merit.

#### **PROPOSITION VI**

# THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED PEREMPTORY INSTRUCTIONS.

Mr. Kirkwood argues that the trial court erred in denying him a peremptory instruction on the burglary of a dwelling. Kirkwood thinks there was insufficient evidence presented for indicating that the trailer that was broken into was actually Smith's "dwelling." Rather he believes Smith's testimony indicated that the trailer was not his permanent dwelling place where he continuously resided. Smith admitted that he also owned other property and only slept there occasionally. Appellant's brief page 26-28.

Mr. W. C. Smith on redirect examination testified that he owned the land on which the trailer resided. He testified that he slept there "most of the time." R. 25. He testified he kept his clothes and other belongings there. He also testified that he intended to reside there rather than at another location where he also owned land.

- Q. Who owns the property it sits on?
- A. I do.
- Q. You do. Okay. And how often do you stay there? Sometimes?
- A. Sometimes.
- Q. Do you keep your clothes there?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Do you keep other personal belongings there?

A. Yeah.

Q. Do you intend to go back there at some point?

A. At some point, yeah, I intend to go back there. Yeah. R. 27-28. (Emphasis by appellee).

In Course v. State 469 So.2d 80, 82 (Miss.1985), the Court found that "the intention of the residents" was crucial for determining whether a building was a dwelling house as opposed to a building other than a dwelling.

In our opinion, it was intended for Code section 97-17-33 to apply under the circumstances now before us. We hold that the term "dwelling house" is, as the term implies, a place where people dwell or reside. In the event there is permanent dwelling of a person or his family in a hotel or motel, that would be his dwelling house. The intention of the residents is the material consideration.364 So.2d at 1133, 1134.

In **Gillum v. State**, 468 So. 2d 856, 859-860 (Miss. 1985), the court found that the week end vacation home of a couple who resided in New Orleans would be considered a dwelling. They kept clothing there and slept there every two or three weekends.

The seasonal or intermittent use of a residence, according to the weight of authority, does not prevent it from becoming a dwelling. See 20 A. L. R. 4 th 349, § 9(a), pp. 367-70 (1983). The view that occupancy need not be continuous is likewise shared by many courts. Id. at § 7(c), p. 365. A doubt as to one's intention to return coupled with long-continued absence, such as in Scott v. State, may be sufficient to destroy the character of a house as a dwelling, but such is not the case here. The frequency and regularity of the Highstreets' visits distinguish this case from Scott v. State. The presence of clothing, furniture, food and other amenities of life also lends credence to the position of the state that the house qualified as a dwelling under § 97-17-19.

The appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

#### **PROPOSITION VI AND VII**

# THERE WERE NO ERRORS THAT INTERFERED WITH KIRKWOOD RECEIVING A FAIR TRIAL.

Mr. Kirkwood argues that he was denied a fair trial. He believes that the alleged improper admission of his prior offenses along with the failure of the trial court to grant him circumstantial evidence instructions was sufficient for establishing reversible error. He argues that these errors could not be considered "harmless errors." Appellant's brief page 30-32.

To the contrary, as shown under prior propositions, the admission of Kirkwood's prior conviction was waived for failure to make an objection on the same ground being argued on appeal.

R. 52; 85. In addition, the record reflects that Officer Ramirez's knowledge about Kirkwood's previous conviction was relevant under the circumstances of finding him apparently in possession of a stolen van and fire arms. R. 41-43. The van contained what was determined to be items stolen after a burglary. Among the items were stolen rifles. There was another person in the van but she was not found to be involved in any illegal activity. R. 51-53.

The record cited above also indicates that evidence of other crimes was opened up by Kirkwood's confessional "drug addict" testimony. R. 74. He testified freely about criminal activity only not about the crimes for which he was being tried. In other words, he confessed to being a criminal but not the type of criminal charged in this particular case. R. 73-88.

He attributed his criminal activity to his crack cocaine drug addiction. He also testified about alleged improper police procedures being followed in his case. R. 85.

In addition, there was no objection on grounds of **Peterson**, **supra**. and M. R. E. 609. Nor was this issue raised in Kirkwood's motion for a new trial. It was never raised with the trial court.

C.P. 24-25.

In **Scott v. State** 878 So. 2d 933, 953 (¶ 63) (Miss. 2004), the Supreme Court pointed out that issues not raised during the trial, such as occurred in the instant cause, are waived on appeal. This is true even where there is heightened appellate scrutiny in death penalty cases.

¶63. Scott also claims that being placed in solitary confinement was unconstitutional and interfered with his right to trial. This Court finds that the defense never raised this issue during trial and is therefore procedurally barred from raising it on appeal. "[H]eightened appellate scrutiny in death penalty cases does not require abandonment of our contemporaneous objection rule which applies with equal force to death cases. For many years this Court has held that trial errors cannot be raised in this Court for the first time on appeal." Williams v. State, 684 So.2d 1179, 1203 (Miss.1996). "If no contemporaneous objection is made, the error, if any, is waived. This rule's applicability is not diminished in a capital case." Cole v. State, 525 So.2d 365, 368 (Miss.1988) (citations omitted)

In Coleman v. State, 697 So. 2d 777, 787 (Miss. 1997), the Supreme Court stated that where there was no reversible error in any part, there was no reversible errors in the whole.

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